SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JIM SMITH, SECRETARY OF STATE,
ETC., ET AL.

Petitioner(s)

vs.

CASE NO. SC02-1624
Lower Tribunal Nos:
02-CA-1490
1D02-2939

COALITION TO REDUCE CLASS SIZE
AND PRE-K COMMITTEE, ETC.

Respondent(s)

_____ /

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE
L. Clayton Roberts
Florida Bar No. 0044709
Heidi Hughes
Florida Bar No. 141800
PL-02, The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0250
850-245-6517 (office)
850-245-6125 (fax)

Counsel for Secretary of State Jim Smith

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a non-final order the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit, Leon County, granting a preliminary injunction. The District Court of Appeal, First District, has certified, pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(5) of the Florida Constitution, that the trial court passes upon a question of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by this Court. This Court accepted jurisdiction. As the issues presented herein are pure questions of law, the standard of review is de novo. *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

Pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.220, an Appendix has been filed simultaneously with the Appellant's brief. Cites to the appendix will be designated as (Appendix - ____).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellees are political committees formed to sponsor and advocate the adoption of proposed constitutional amendments, entitled "Florida's Amendment to Reduce Class Size" and "Voluntary Universal Pre Kindergarten Education." The Legislature enacted HB 65-E, which became

law on May 24, 2002 (Chapter 02-390, Laws of Florida), requiring, inter alia, the Revenue Estimating Conference to complete an analysis and fiscal impact statement of the estimated increase or decrease in any revenue or costs to state or local government as a result of any initiative or revision proposed pursuant to Article XI of the Florida Constitution. The law requires a “clear and unambiguous” fiscal impact statement of no more than 50 words to be placed on the ballot for all initiatives not certified for ballot position as of the effective date of the act. In the Court below, Appellees sought and obtained a temporary injunction enjoining Appellants from placing the fiscal impact statements on the November 2002 ballot.

¹ The Circuit Court held that requiring the placement of the fiscal impact statement on the ballot was not necessary to ensure ballot integrity and was therefore unconstitutional and that the legislation abrogated Appellees’ vested rights.

¹ The county supervisors of elections actually design, prepare, and arrange for printing of ballots for their respective counties so that, in fact, neither the Secretary of State nor the Department of state *places* any matter on the ballot. The Department does provide the ballot number, title and summary of proposed amendments to the supervisors. *See*, § 101.161(2), Fla. Stat. (2001). In contrast, Chapter 02-390 of the Laws of Florida does not direct the Secretary or the Department to provide the fiscal impact statement to the supervisors. As a practical matter, however, we are certain that in transmitting the designating number, title and summary to the supervisors, should the law be upheld, the Department would also include the fiscal impact statement in order to assist the supervisors in their responsibility to place the statement on the ballot.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Article XI, section 3 of the Florida constitution provides that the “power to propose the revision or amendment of any portion or portions of this constitution by initiative is reserved to the people.” Article XI, section 3, further provides that in order to invoke this power, a proponent of an initiative must file with the secretary of state a copy of the proposed revision or amendment signed by a number of electors in each of one half of the congressional districts of the state, and of the state as a whole, equal to eight percent of the votes cast in each of such districts and in the state as a whole in the last preceding presidential election.

This Court has long recognized that this provision of the constitution is self-executing. That is, the provision does not require any legislative enactment to become operative. This Court has also recognized circumstances where legislative and administrative regulations placed on the initiative process were constitutionally permissible. Specifically, this Court has approved of legislation that requires a sponsor of an amendment to provide a ballot title of no more than fifteen words, a ballot summary that states the chief purpose of the amendment in clear and unambiguous language, and to require the sponsor of the amendment to register as a political committee and report periodically the contributions received or the expenditures made by that committee. These and other requirements that the sponsors of initiative petitions must meet are not enumerated in the constitution. They are permitted because they “assure that the electorate is advised of the true meaning and ramifications of an amendment.” *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982).

Chapter 02-390 of the Laws of Florida is just such a provision. Chapter 02-390 requires a “clear and unambiguous fiscal-impact statement, no more than 50 words in length.” This statement is permissible under the precedents of this Court and serves the important public purpose of informing the voters.

Chapter 02-390 does not in any way limit the opportunity of initiative sponsors to place their measures before the people of the State of Florida. The rights of the sponsors under this provision are fully realized. Thus, the new law does not impair vested rights of sponsors. The elected representatives of the people of this state have determined that the voters should know the cost ramifications of proposed constitutional amendments. This is a legitimate and proper purpose of the legislation and Chapter 02-390 of the Florida Laws should be found constitutional as a valid regulation of the initiative process.

I. THERE IS NOT A SUBSTANTIAL LIKELIHOOD THAT PLAINTIFFS WILL SUCCEED ON THE MERITS.

A. Chapter 02-390, Laws of Florida, is a measure reasonably designed to ensure ballot integrity and the integrity of the initiative process.

1. The fact that Article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution is self-executing does not preclude the Legislature from making reasonable regulations.
2. A fiscal impact statement is not a comment, but rather is a legitimate means of informing the public of the ramifications of a proposed amendment.

B. Chapter 02-390, Laws of Florida does not impair any vested rights the Appellees may have.

1. Nothing in the new law changes affects Appellees' right to ballot placement. If the Appellees submit verified signatures of 488,722 electors, the measures at issue here will appear on the ballot.
2. The changes made by Chapter 02-390 are procedural and do not impair any vested rights the Appellees may have.

II. THE PUBLIC INTEREST REQUIRES SUSTAINING THE VALIDITY OF CHAPTER 02-390, LAWS OF FLORIDA.

- A. The public's right to a full understanding of proposed amendments outweighs the interests of the sponsors to present their amendment without government "interference."
- B. Providing a fiscal impact statement allows voters to more fully understand the ramifications of a proposed amendment and is therefore a valid regulation.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NOT A SUBSTANTIAL LIKELIHOOD THAT PLAINTIFFS WILL SUCCEED ON THE MERITS.

A. Chapter 02-390 of the Laws of Florida is a measure reasonably designed to ensure ballot integrity and the integrity of the initiative process.

1. The fact that Article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution is self-executing does not preclude the Legislature from making reasonable regulations.

While Article XI, section 3 is self-executing in the sense that “it clearly establishes a right to propose by initiative petition a constitutional amendment which may be implemented without the aid of any legislative enactment” *Citizens Proposition For Tax Relief v. Firestone*, 386 So.2d 561, 566 (Fla. 1980), numerous statutory and regulatory requirements have been enacted to protect ballot integrity and the election process, and to inform the public. *See, e.g. The Initiative Petition Process*, Florida Department of State, Division of Elections, revised 5/29/02, at Appendix-Tab 3). The fact that the constitutional provision is self-executing has not precluded the legislature from enacting reasonable regulations to ensure ballot integrity and integrity of the election process generally. *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000) and the cases preceding it are abundantly clear the legislature has the full power to enact measures such as Section 101.161, Florida Statutes, to regulate the form of the ballot, including the contents of summaries of proposed amendments.

Section 101.161 of the Florida Statutes requires that the ballot

summary and title state the chief purpose of the amendment in clear and unambiguous language. *Save Our Everglades*, 636 so. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1994); *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So.2d 151 (Fla. 1982). The ballot title and summary must be approved as to form by the Secretary of State. *See*, § 101.161(2), Fla. Stat. (2001).

Other constitutionally valid requirements of the legislature go far beyond the form of the ballot in regulating initiative proposals. Section 100.371(3) of the Florida Statutes, states that the sponsor of an initiative proposal:

. . . shall, prior to obtaining any signatures, register as a political committee pursuant to s. 106.03 and submit the text of the proposed amendment to the Secretary of State, with the form on which the signatures will be affixed, and shall obtain the approval of the Secretary of State of such form. The Secretary of State shall adopt rules pursuant to s. 120.54 prescribing the style and requirements of such form.

The Department of State, Division of Elections (“DOE”) has promulgated rules setting forth specific criteria which a petition must satisfy to gain approval under Section 100.371, Florida Statutes. *See*, 1S-2.009, et seq., Florida Administrative Code.

To comply with Section 100.371(3), sponsors of an initiative amendment must register as a political committee pursuant to Section

106.03. Section 106.03 thus requires the sponsor to file a statement of organization with the DOE, which must disclose “[a]ny issue or issues such organization is supporting or opposing.” §106.03(2)(g), Fla. Stat. (2001).

Section 99.097(1)(a) of the Florida Statutes requires signature verification for initiative petitions at a cost to the sponsor of ten cents per signature. Such a requirement is consistent with “exactitude and accuracy and is, therefore not unconstitutionally applied to Article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution, initiative proceedings.” *Let’s Help Florida v. Smathers*, 360 So.2d 494 (1st DCA 1978).

In each of these instances, the legislature or Division of Elections has required specific obligations to be performed and criteria to be met in order for a proponent of an initiative amendment to exercise his rights under a self-executing provision of the Constitution. None of these requirements are set forth in the Constitution. As shown in cases cited throughout this brief, it is well settled that a constitutional amendment is not required for the legislature or executive branch to place these requirements on those who use the initiative process to amend the constitution.

Many of these requirements, such as registering as a political committee, are not strictly derivative of “ballot integrity.” Legislation regulating the initiative process addresses broader, more general interests of

the state such as disclosure, accuracy, responsibility for informing the public, protection of the political process, and generally regulating the conduct of elections. For instance, Section 106.03, Florida Statutes serves the compelling state interest of informing the public “as to who is involved in raising and spending money for elections.” *Falzone v. State*, 500 So. 2d 1337, 1338 (Fla. 1987). The purpose of the section 101.161 of the Florida Statutes, is “to assure that the electorate is advised of the true meaning, and ramifications, of an amendment.” *Kainen v. Harris*, 769 So. 2d 1029 (Fla. 2000)(quoting *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982)).

All of these provisions address legitimate purposes for enacting legislation regulating elections and the initiative process. In fact, this Court has found that the legislature and the secretary of state “have the duty and obligation to ensure ballot integrity and a *valid election process*.” *Citizens Proposition For Tax Relief v. Firestone*, 386 So.2d 561 at 566 (Fla. 1980) (emphasis added).

Chapter 02-390 of the Laws of Florida merely makes the ballot more informative by advising voters of the fiscal ramifications, if any, of the proposed amendment. A more informed voter is integral to the integrity of the process. If the provision at issue in this case constitutes government interference in the initiative process, then so must each of the other

provisions discussed above.

The court below nevertheless asserts that an enactment of the legislature that places no additional burdens on Appellees, but simply provides additional information to the voter, requires a constitutional amendment. The lower court's ruling is contrary to existing case law and the purpose underlying Chapter 02-390.

2. A fiscal impact statement is not a comment, but rather is a legitimate means of informing the public of the ramifications of a proposed amendment.

Chapter 02-390 of the Laws of Florida adds the following language to Section 101.161, Florida Statutes, “[i]n addition, the ballot shall include a separate fiscal-impact statement concerning the measure prepared by the Revenue Estimating Conference in accordance with s. 100.371(6) or s. 100.381.” The purpose of section 101.161 is:

. . . to assure that the electorate is advised of the true meaning, and ramifications, of an amendment. A proposed amendment cannot fly under false colors. . . . The burden of informing the public should not fall only on the press and opponents of the measure—the ballot title and summary must do this.

Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 16 (Fla. 2000)(citing *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 1982)).

The fiscal impact statement allows electors to be more fully informed of the ramifications and effect of a proposed amendment. Informing the public is a proper purpose of legislation affecting initiatives and Florida courts have long so held. Indeed, “[a] ballot title and summary cannot either ‘fly under false colors’ or ‘hide the ball’ as to the amendment’s true effect.” *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d at 16 (Fla. 2000). Additional information regarding the fiscal impact of a proposed amendment is consistent with other statutory provisions which enhance the self-executing constitutional provision by informing the public

and protecting the political process.

A fiscal impact statement is not a comment on or value judgment of the proposed amendment; it is viewpoint neutral. When the electorate is presented with the information, the electorate then determines what conclusions to draw from the fiscal impact statement. In fact, the conclusion drawn from the information could be very different for each voter based on the value the voter places on the proposed amendment. One voter may think the cost is insignificant in light of the purpose of the amendment. Another may view the cost exorbitant outweighing any desired effect of the amendment.

In any event, the information is not an expression of the opinion of the legislature as to the efficacy or wisdom of a proposed amendment. That determination is left to the electors. It is simply another piece of information for the electorate to use in making this determination. Cost goes to the very essence of understanding the most basic ramifications of a proposed amendment. Inclusion of cost information enhances public discourse and the public's understanding of the proposed amendment and is therefore a proper legislative purpose.

- B. Chapter 02-390, Laws of Florida does not impair any vested rights the Appellees may have.
 - 1. Nothing in the new law changes impairs Appellees' right to ballot placement. If the Appellees submit verified signature of 488,722 electors, the measures at issue here will appear on the ballot.

This case is simply not about vested rights. Substantive law

prescribes duties and rights, and procedural law addresses the means and methods to apply those rights. *Benyard v. Wainwright*, 322 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1975). The right guaranteed to Appellees under Article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution is the right to propose the amendment or revision of the Constitution by meeting all of the constitutional and statutory prescriptions.

The procedural requirement that the Revenue Estimating Conference prepare a fiscal impact statement to appear on the ballot in no way impairs that right. What is required of Appellees in order to have their initiatives included on the ballot is the same before and after Chapter 02-390 became law. In fact, the law has no effect on Appellees' activities in seeking placement of the proposed amendment on the ballot. The legislation places no additional obligations on Appellees and does not in any way affect Appellees' right to participate in the initiative process.

Appellees assert that they have a right to place the amendment on the ballot without the fiscal impact statement. However, the Constitution does not guarantee a proponent of an initiative amendment a procedure of its choosing. The legislature has determined that ballot integrity and a valid election process will be served by inclusion of a short fiscal impact statement. As the First District Court of Appeal observed in this case, "[i]f allowed to stand, the trial court's order will thwart the legislature's intent to inform the electorate of the fiscal impact of revisions or amendments to the state constitution proposed by initiative. The result will, at least arguably, be a less informed electorate." *Harris v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size*, On Suggestion For Certification To The Supreme Court, Case No. 1D02-2939 (1st DCA 2002). In essence, Appellees take the position that they have a vested right in placement of their proposed

amendments on the ballot with the least information possible. Clearly this position is contrary to the purpose of the ballot title and summary and various other regulations of the initiative process—to inform the public.

2. The changes made by Chapter 02-390 are procedural and do not impair any vested rights the Appellees may have.

The general rule is that a substantive statute will not apply retrospectively, absent clear legislative intent to the contrary, but a procedural statute will apply retrospectively. *State Farm v. Laforet*, 658 So. 2d 55, 61 (Fla. 1995). There is no prohibition against the legislature changing a procedural process mid-stream so long as the statute does not impair vested rights, create new obligations or impose new penalties. *Id.* Chapter 02-390 amends the initiative process procedure. It does not impair any vested rights of the Appellees to have their proposed amendments placed on the ballot.

The law does not affect the status quo of Appellees' proposed amendments. Assuming the required number of signatures is verified, the proposed amendments will appear on the ballot. Appellees are not deprived of vested rights because the legislature has decided that additional information is to be included on the ballot for the benefit of the voters. After all, it is the voters who are the real parties in interest when analyzing the effect of the law, not the sponsors of the proposed amendment.

If the Appellees are displeased with the language of the fiscal impact statement, the remedy is to challenge the language itself, not the authority of the legislature to require placement of fiscal information on the ballot. *See, e.g. Kainen v. Harris*, 769 So. 2d 1029 (Fla. 2000). Appellees have not challenged the language as inaccurate or misleading, instead they challenge the legislature’s authority to require that the statement appear on the ballot. Contrary to the Appellees’ assertion, the fiscal impact statement requirement is clearly within the legislature’s authority and serves an important public purpose in informing the electors.

- II. THE PUBLIC INTEREST REQUIRES SUSTAINING THE VALIDITY OF CHAPTER 02-390, LAWS OF FLORIDA.
 - A. The public’s right to a full understanding of proposed amendments outweighs the interests of the sponsors to present their amendment without government “interference.”

The fiscal impact statement requirement, like other statutory requirements governing placement of an initiative amendment on the ballot, is designed to ensure that the initiative process serves the will of the people rather than the desires of special interests.

In the United States, the initiative, referendum, and recall movement came out of the populist and progressive eras of the late 19th and 20th centuries. State governments were perceived to be controlled by “special interests, such as railroads, bankers, land speculators, and robber barons....” Initiatives allow the public to bypass the Legislature....

... Initiative provisions reserve direct lawmaking power to the voters of the state. Voters may propose new legislation and thereafter the general electorate may adopt or reject the initiative at the polls. Initiatives are best described as procedures which are instituted and controlled by the voters to make new laws via the constitution.

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