IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. SC02-1624 LOWER TRIBUNAL NOS.:

First District Court of Appeal Case No. 1D02-2939 Second Judicial Circuit No. 02-CA-1490

JIM SMITH, SECRETARY OF STATE, ETC., ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.

COALITION TO REDUCE CLASS SIZE, and PRE-K COMMITTEE,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

Mark Herron, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 0199737
Thomas M. Findley., Esq.
Florida Bar No. 0797855
Messer, Caparello & Self, P.A.
215 S. Monroe St, Suite 701
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Telephone: (850) 222-0720

Laurie Mathews, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 0120618
Hunton & Williams
Barclays Financial Center
111 Brickell Avenue, Suite
2500
Miami, FL 33131
Telephone: (305) 810-2500

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution, provides a self-executing method for the people to amend the Florida Constitution. No legislation is necessary for this self-executing constitutional provision. Any legislation concerning the people's right to amend their constitution is permissible "only" when such legislation is "necessary to ensure ballot integrity." The Petitioner's argument does not even suggest that challenged legislation is "necessary to ensure ballot integrity." Instead, the Petitioner and friends urge this Court to overrule prior precedents by adopting a standard that such measures need only be "reasonably designed to ensure ballot integrity." The Petitioner's argument falls short of this Court's strict standard that limits legislative entanglement in the citizen initiative process. Therefore, the trial court must be affirmed.

- 2. Chapter 2002-390 also violates the due process rights of the Respondents. Because this Court had approved the *Class Size* proposed amendment and had set the briefing for the *Pre-K* proposed amendment, prior to the effective date of Chapter 2002-390, its retroactive impact on these proposed amendments violates due process and the Florida Constitution's provisions for Supreme Court review of proposed amendments.
- 3. The Petitioner's argument that Chapter 2002-390 is valid for no reason other than it arguably serves a public interest ignores the strict constitutional prohibition on legislation affecting the initiative process. This Court has unambiguously held that such legislation is valid only when necessary to ensure ballot integrity. Therefore, the Petitioner's argument that the Legislature may act without constitutional restriction if it believes its legislation is in the public interest must be rejected.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on appeal from a grant of a temporary injunction is abuse of discretion, which is based on the principal of general reasonableness. *P.M. Realty & Investments*, *Inc. v. City of Tampa*, 779 So.2d 404 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000), rev. denied 786 So.2d 580 (Fla. 2001); Banyan Lakes Homeowners

Association, Inc. v. School District of Palm Beach County, 2002 WL 1798921 (Fla. 1st DCA August 7, 2002). To the extent that the order is based on issues of law, this Court is not required to defer to the decision of the trial court. Nastasi v. Thomas, 766 So.2d 462 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).

ARGUMENT

Introduction.

The trial court entered a temporary injunction in this action, precluding the enforcement of Chapter 2002-390. The trial court found that the injunction was proper based on the Respondents' showing of all of the requirements for a temporary injunction, including: (1) the likelihood of irreparable harm; (2) the unavailability of an adequate remedy at law; (3) substantial likelihood of success on the merits; and (4) considerations of the public interest. Tom v. Russ, 752 So.2d 1250, 1251 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); Spradley v. Old Harmony Baptist Church, 721 So.2d 735, 737 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in entering the temporary injunction in this case.

A. ARTICLE XI, SECTION 3, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, IS A SELF-EXECUTING PROVISION, AND LEGISLATION AFFECTING THE PEOPLE'S RIGHT TO AMEND THE CONSNECESSARYISOPERMURE IBAELONLYNTEGRITY. Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution, is a "self-executing" provision, which delineates the process for citizens to amend the Florida Constitution through the initiative process.

Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution, provides:

The power to propose the revision or amendment of any portion or portions of this constitution by initiative is reserved to the people, provided that, any such revision or amendment shall embrace but one subject and matter directly connected therewith. It may be invoked by filing with the secretary of state a petition containing a copy of the proposed revision or amendment, signed by a number of electors in each of one half of the congressional districts of the state, and of the state as a whole, equal to eight percent of the votes cast in each of such districts respectively and in the state as a whole in the last preceding election in which presidential electors were chosen.

"This This Court has held: is a self-executing constitutional provision. It clearly establishes a right to propose by initiative petition a constitutional amendment which may be implemented without the aid of any legislative enactment." State of Florida, ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone, 386 So.2d 561, 566 (Fla. 1980) (emphasis added). As this Court outlined in that decision, the four methods of amending the Florida Constitution are "delicately balanced to reflect the power of the people to propose amendments through the initiative process . . . " Id. This Court set a strict standard for legislation concerning the initiative amendment process:

In considering any legislative act or administrative rule which concerns the initiative amending process, we must be careful that the legislative statute or implementing rule is necessary for ballot integrity since any restriction on the initiative process would strengthen the authority and power of the legislature and weaken the power of the initiative process. The delicate symmetric balance of this constitutional scheme must be maintained, and any legislative act regulating the process should be allowed only when necessary to ensure ballot integrity.

Id. (Emphasis added).

Despite the clear holding of this Court regarding the narrow role to be played by the Legislature in regulating the process for citizen initiatives to amend the Florida Constitution, the Petitioners as well as amici argue that the Legislature possesses the power to regulate the initiative process beyond that which is necessary to ensure ballot integrity. The Petitioner and amici suggest that the issue is whether the measure is "reasonably designed to ensure ballot integrity." See Petitioner's Brief, p. 5.4 In essence, they seek to lower the standard without any authority. Under this Court's standards, none of the

⁴ The Governor in his amicus curiae brief also suggests that the standard is whether the "fiscal impact law is reasonably designed to ensure ballot integrity." Governor's Brief at p. 7. That is not the standard. Instead, the Petitioner's burden in this action is to show that the fiscal impact statement and analysis to be supplied by the government is "necessary to ensure ballot integrity." Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief, 386 So.2d at 566.

Petitioner's asserted justifications support the regulation of the initiative process contained in Chapter 2002-390.

Petitioners and amici note the various statutes administrative regulations affecting the initiative process. They arque that none of these regulations are provided for in the constitutional scheme setting forth the initiative process yet they have not been determined to constitute an impermissible interference on the initiative process. For example, Section 101,161, Florida Statutes, requiring a ballot summary and title is cited as such a regulation. Yet, as this Court has held, the ballot summary requirements codified in Section 101.161, Florida Statutes, are inherent in the initiative process "Implicit in [Article XI, Section 5, Florida Constitution] is the requirement that the proposed amendment be accurately represented on the ballot; otherwise, voter approval would be a nullity." Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So.2d 7, 12 (Fla. 2000) omitted) (emphasis in text).

This Court has specifically determined that "verification is an element of ballot integrity and a task which the legislature may require to be accomplished as a prerequisite to filing an initiative constitutional proposal with the Secretary of State."

State ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone,

386 So.2d 561, 567 (Fla. 1982). Nevertheless, it has been determined that the Legislature possesses no authority to modify the signature verification requirements of Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution. Let's Help Florida v. Smathers, 360 So.2d 494, 495 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA 1978). In addition, this Court has determined that administrative rule provisions requiring that signature petitions be submitted to the appropriate supervisors of elections for verification no later than 5 p.m. of the 122^{nd} day prior to the general election were contrary to the constitutionally prescribed initiative process. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief, 386 So.2d at 567. Whether other statutory or administrative regulations affecting the initiative process unconstitutionally impinge upon the initiative process is not before the Court at this time.

The Governor argues, without citing any Florida case law, that the Legislature has "broad authority" to enact laws affecting the initiative process. Amicus Brief of the Governor at p. 2, 4. In taking this position, the Governor borrows principles from federal cases that do not construe the parameters of Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution, but instead construe the limits of federal constitutional law. The trial court in this case did not rely on those federal authorities or

constitutional provisions in reaching its decision. Instead, the trial court relied on Florida case law construing Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution. Order, p. 2 (citing State ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone, 386 So.2d 561 (Fla. 1980) and Miami Heat Limited Partnership v. Leahy, 682 So.2d 198 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). As noted by the trial court, these cases provide for a very limited role for the Legislature in regulating the initiative process. The Governor's argument that the Legislature has broad authority is based on standards applicable to federal constitutional provisions that are not the subject of this appeal.

This Court has concluded that Article XI of the Florida Constitution is "delicately balanced" so that the Legislature bears no greater power than the citizens to propose constitutional amendments. The Petitioners and amici express a point of view that governmental analysis is necessary to ensure that Floridians know what they are doing. This view ignores the fact that the citizen initiative process is designed to allow the people to amend the Florida Constitution by bypassing the Legislature. See Biddulph v. Mortham, 89 F.3d 1491, 1497 (11th Cir. 1996) (purpose of Florida's initiative process is to allow the people to "enact change by bypassing their representatives

altogether"), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 1086 (1997). Petitioners and amici presume that the Legislature can "ensure" that the people will know what they are doing only if they are so informed by the government. By entangling itself in the substance of the proposal, however, the government upsets the delicate balance of the initiative process vis-à-vis the other methods of amending the constitution.

This Court has noted the special right of electors to determine the manner in which the Florida Constitution may be amended. Recently, in Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Right to Treatment and Rehabilitation for Non-Violent Drug Offenses, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S488, (Fla. 2002), the Court highlighted the right of the people to formulate their own organic law:

There is no lawful reason why the electors of this State should not have the right to determine the manner in which the Constitution may be amended. This is the most sanctified area in which a court can exercise power. Sovereignty resides in the people and the electors have a right to approve or reject a proposed amendment to the organic law of this State, limited only by those instances where there is an entire failure to comply with a plain and essential requirement of [the law].

(Citing to Pope v. Gray, 104 So.2d 841, 842 (Fla. 1958).)

The Petitioners and amici argue that the Legislature's role in the initiative process may go beyond ensuring ballot

Their argument flies in the face of this Court's unambiguous language of the Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief decision: "any legislative act regulating the process should be only when necessary to ensure ballot integrity." (Emphasis added.) Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief, 386 So.2d The Petitioners suggestion that the issue is whether the measure is "reasonably designed to ensure ballot integrity" simply misses the mark. This Court's mandate that legislation affecting the initiative process is valid only when necessary to ensure ballot integrity is not limited to "restrictions" on the initiative process, as the government argues, but instead to any action that regulates or concerns the initiative process. attempt of the Petitioners and amici to reconstruct the standard is based on the fundamental misunderstanding that there are other undefined sources of power that confer upon the Legislature the power to enact legislation affecting the initiative process. This argument simply fails to acknowledge that the initiative method of amending the state constitution is a fundamental right of Floridians that can be regulated only when necessary to ensure ballot integrity.

None of the cases cited by Petitioners or *amici* address the issue of allowing the government to provide an uninvited

commentary on the predicted effects of a citizen's proposed amendment. Instead, the cited cases deal with the issue of ensuring that such language is accurate. In sharp contrast, Chapter 2002-390 deals not with the accuracy of ballot language, but with the government's ability to include supplemental information and analysis on top of an otherwise accurately expressed proposal.

In this case, there can be no doubt that the proposals at issue are accurate, because this Court has already found them to be accurate. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Florida's Amendment to Reduce Class Size, 816 So.2d 580 (Fla. 2002); Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Voluntary Universal Pre-Kindergarten Education, 27 Fla.L.Weekly S663 (Fla. July 11, 2002). Therefore, the government's argument that their additional fiscal analysis is necessary to ensure accuracy or to keep the Respondents from "hiding the ball" is an effort to redefine and greatly expand the concept of "accuracy."

The Governor's argument that Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Tax Limitation, 644 So.2d 486 (Fla. 1994) supports his position is misguided. In that case, this Court struck a proposed amendment because it failed to accurately reflect the full impact of a proposed amendment. In the instant

case, the Court utilized the same standards used in Tax Limitation to conclude that the proposed amendments are accurate and do not "hide the ball." This Court's prior approval of the current proposals reflects that they were sufficiently accurate in all respects, including the fiscal ramifications of the proposals.

Moreover, in Askew v. Firestone, 421 So.2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982), this Court concluded that in its form prior to the challenged legislation, Section 101.161, Florida already was designed to "assure that the electorate is advised of the true meaning, and ramifications, of an amendment." precedent confirms that fiscal analysis in the challenged legislation of Chapter 2002-390 is not "necessary" to ensure that ballot language is accurate. This Court already has the power without Chapter 2002-390 to adequately address the accuracy of a proposal, including hidden fiscal ramifications, just as it did in the Tax Limitation case. $\frac{5}{1}$ Because Chapter 2002-390 is not "necessary" to ensure ballot integrity or accuracy, it must be

⁵ Petitioner and *amici* cite numerous cases for the proposition that ballot language must be accurate. These cases, however, are of no assistance in resolving this case because this Court has already applied the principles of those cases in concluding that the Class Size and Pre-K Amendments are accurate without the government's fiscal analysis. Moreover, none of those cases deal with the issue of the constitutionality of legislative enactments affecting the initiative process. Instead, the cases cited by the Petitioner are limited to cases that simply apply section 101.161 to proposed amendments. Therefore, they are not relevant to the issue at hand.

stricken under the principles set forth in *Citizens Proposition* for *Tax Relief*.

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